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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
Civil Action No.

CITADEL FEDERAL CREDIT UNION,

)
)
)
)
) JURY DEMAND
)
)
)
Defendant. )
)

COMPLAINT

The United States of America (the “United States”) brings this action against Citadel
Federal Credit Union (“Citadel”) under the Fair Housing Act (“FHA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601-3619,
and the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-1691f, to remedy
discrimination in Citadel’s residential mortgage lending. In support of this Complaint, the United
States alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. The FHA and ECOA prohibit creditors, including credit unions, from
discriminating in the provision of home loans and other credit services on the basis of race, color,
national origin, and other characteristics.

2. “Redlining” is one type of discrimination prohibited under the FHA and ECOA.
Redlining occurs when lenders discourage loan applications, deny equal access to home loans and
other credit services, or avoid providing home loans and other credit services to neighborhoods
based on the race, color, or national origin of the residents of those neighborhoods.

3. From 2017 through at least 2021 (the “Relevant Time Period”), Citadel engaged in

a pattern or practice of unlawful redlining in its “market area,” which includes Bucks, Chester,
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Delaware, Lancaster, Montgomery, and Philadelphia Counties, Pennsylvania. Specifically, Citadel
avoided providing home loans' and other mortgage services in majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods” in its market area. Citadel also engaged in acts and practices directed at
prospective applicants that would discourage them from applying for credit in Citadel’s market
area.

4. Citadel’s redlining practices included locating and maintaining all but one of its 24
branches in majority-White neighborhoods. Nearly one quarter of all residential census tracts in
Citadel’s market area are majority-Black and Hispanic, and 76 percent of those tracts are located
in Philadelphia County, where Citadel has never opened a branch. While Philadelphia is the most
populous county and self-defined “hub” of Citadel’s operations, it is the only county in Citadel’s
market area without a branch.

5. In 2009, Citadel represented to its regulator, the National Credit Union
Administration (“NCUA”), that it would open at least three branches in Philadelphia County and
implement a community outreach plan to ensure that it reached “underserved residents” there.
However, Citadel never opened these branches or implemented its outreach plan, opting instead to
expand rapidly into suburban, majority-White neighborhoods.

6. Since at least 2016, Citadel knew it was at risk of violating fair lending laws, as a

third-party report commissioned by Citadel that year showed much lower percentages of

!'In this Complaint, the terms “home loans” and “mortgage loans” refer to loans that Citadel and
other creditors must report under the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (“HMDA™), 12 U.S.C.
§§ 2801-2819. “Mortgage lending” refers to the provision of such loans.

2 A “majority-Black and Hispanic” census tract (“MBHCT") is defined as a residential census
tract in which more than 50 percent of the residents are identified as either “Black or African
American” or “Hispanic or Latino” by the United States Census Bureau. This Complaint uses the
terms “majority-Black and Hispanic census tract,” “majority-Black and Hispanic area,” and
“majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhood” interchangeably and does the same for “majority-
White census tract,” “majority-White area,” and “majority-White neighborhood.”
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applications from “minority borrowers” as compared to other lenders in its market area.
Nevertheless, Citadel failed to take any steps to address this disparity.

7. As a result of the above-described practices, Citadel generated disproportionately
low numbers of loan applications and home loans during each year in the Relevant Time Period
from majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods within its market area as compared to similarly
situated lenders.

8. Citadel’s conduct and practices were intended to deny, and had the effect of
denying, equal access to home loans for those residing in, or seeking credit for properties located
in, majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods and otherwise discouraged those individuals from
applying for home loans on the basis of race, color, or national origin.

9. Citadel’s conduct was not justified by a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason or
business necessity and was not necessary to achieve a substantial, legitimate, nondiscriminatory
interest.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331,
28 U.S.C. § 1345, 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a), and 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(h) because the action arises under
the laws of the United States, and the United States brings this case as a plaintiff.

11. Venue is proper in the Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of
the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.

PARTIES

12. Plaintiff, the United States, brings this action to enforce the FHA and ECOA. The

FHA and ECOA authorize the Attorney General to bring a civil action in federal district court

whenever he has reason to believe that an entity is engaged in a pattern or practice of resistance to
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the full enjoyment of rights secured by the FHA and ECOA. 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a); 15 U.S.C.
§ 1691e(h). The FHA further authorizes the Attorney General to bring suit where the defendant
has denied rights to a group of persons and that denial raises an issue of general public importance.
42 U.S.C. § 3614(a).

13. Defendant Citadel is a “federal credit union,” which is a member-owned, not-for-
profit institution governed by the Federal Credit Union Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1752(1), and formed to
provide its members with financial services. Citadel is headquartered in Exton, Pennsylvania, and
is subject to the regulatory authority of the NCUA. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Citadel
has offered business and personal banking, mortgage and other home loan products, wealth
management and retirement services, and insurance. In 2020, Citadel was the eighteenth largest
lender in its market area and the second largest credit union in the Greater Philadelphia area.

14. Citadel currently maintains 24 branches within its market area.

15. As of June 2024, Citadel had over 263,000 members, and its total assets equaled
approximately $6 billion.

16. Citadel is subject to the FHA, ECOA, and their respective implementing
regulations, 24 C.F.R. pt. 100, 12 C.F.R. pt. 1002.

17. Citadel is a “creditor,” as defined by ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(e), and is engaged

in “residential real estate-related transactions,” as defined by the FHA, 42 U.S.C. § 3605.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
Citadel’s Field of Membership and Market Area

18.  As a community credit union, Citadel can only offer services within its “field of
membership.” See 12 U.S.C. 1759(b).

19. Since 2009, Citadel’s field of membership, which was approved by the NCUA, has
comprised Bucks, Chester, Delaware, Montgomery, and Philadelphia Counties, Pennsylvania, and
the City of Lancaster, Pennsylvania. See Exhibit A.

20. Citadel operates two branches and does significant lending in Lancaster County

(13

outside the City of Lancaster, so the entirety of Lancaster County is included in Citadel’s “market
area.” Accordingly, Citadel’s market area comprises Citadel’s field of membership along with
Lancaster County. The market area has approximately 4.7 million residents. Of these residents, 63
percent are White, 20 percent are Black, 9 percent are Hispanic or Latino, 6 percent are Asian, and
2 percent are other races. Throughout the Relevant Time Period, the vast majority of Citadel’s
residential mortgage lending occurred within this market area.

21. Citadel’s market area contains 1,086 census tracts with at least one resident, of
which 771 (71 percent) are majority-White and 259 (24 percent) are majority-Black and Hispanic.
The remaining 56 census tracts (5 percent) are “majority-minority,” but not majority-Black and
Hispanic, meaning that, according to the United States Census Bureau, at least 50 percent of the
residents are not White, but fewer than 50 percent are Black or Hispanic.

22. Philadelphia County contains 198 of the 259 majority-Black and Hispanic tracts

within Citadel’s market area, meaning the county contains 76 percent of all majority-Black and
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Hispanic tracts in the market area. The majority of the Black and Hispanic population within
Citadel’s market area lives in Philadelphia County.

23. The remaining 61 majority-Black and Hispanic tracts in Citadel’s market area are
located in Bucks, Chester, Delaware, Lancaster, and Montgomery Counties, with no more than 33
majority-Black and Hispanic tracts in a single county. Specifically, Bucks County has zero
majority-Black and Hispanic census tracts; Chester County has 7; Delaware County has 33;
Montgomery County has 14; and Lancaster has 7. Thus, Philadelphia County has at least 165 more
majority-Black and Hispanic census tracts than any other county in Citadel’s market area.

Citadel Located Branches Almost Exclusively in Majority-White Neighborhoods.

24.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel operated between 20 and 24 branches in
its market area. All of those branches were “full-service” branches, which offered the full suite of
Citadel’s retail products and services, including accepting residential mortgage loan inquiries and
applications.

25. During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel operated only one of its 20-24 branches
in a majority-Black and Hispanic tract even though those census tracts represented approximately
24 percent of the overall census tracts within its market area. This sole branch in a majority-Black
and Hispanic neighborhood opened in 1963 in Chester County, when Citadel served only
employees of Lukens Steel Company and not the surrounding area.

26. Citadel’s expansion and branching decisions show an intent to avoid providing
credit in majority-Black and Hispanic tracts in its market area. Between 2009 and 2016, Citadel
expanded out of Chester County and opened eleven branches, including in Bucks, Delaware,
Lancaster, and Montgomery Counties. All eleven branches were located in majority-White census

tracts.
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27.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel opened three additional branches, again
locating all of those branches in majority-White areas in its market area. As a result of its branching
strategy, Citadel has one branch in Bucks County, 11 branches in Chester County, 3 branches in
Delaware County, 2 branches in Lancaster County, 7 branches in Montgomery County, and zero
branches in Philadelphia County, despite it containing 34 percent of the market area’s overall
population and over three-quarters of its majority-Black and Hispanic census tracts. See Exhibit
B.

28. Throughout the Relevant Time Period, Citadel knew it was not serving the credit
needs of “minority” applicants in its market area but did not take steps to address these
deficiencies. For example, a third-party analysis of annual HMDA data showed that Citadel trailed
its peers in mortgage applications and originations from “minority” customers in nearly every
county in its field of membership since at least 2016, yet Citadel chose to open all of its new
branches during the Relevant Time Period in majority-White areas.

29. By concentrating all but one of its branches in majority-White areas, Citadel
discouraged residents of majority-Black and Hispanic areas from applying for and obtaining home
loans and restricted their access to Citadel’s credit and mortgage lending services.

Citadel Failed to Address the NCUA’s Concerns About Providing Access to Credit for
Residents of Underserved Areas.

30. Beginning in 2006, and on several occasions since then, the NCUA informed
Citadel that it was concerned Citadel was failing to provide credit services to “underserved
areas” in Philadelphia County.

31.  In 2009, the NCUA approved Citadel to expand its field of membership after
Citadel represented that it would provide credit services to underserved areas in Philadelphia

County. Specifically, Citadel stated that it would open 3 branches and conduct targeted outreach
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and marketing in Philadelphia County.

32. Citadel failed to follow through on these representations. Since 2009, and
throughout the Relevant Time Period, Citadel failed to open a single branch or conduct any
outreach and marketing to Philadelphia County.

33. In fact, once the NCUA approved the charter expansion, Citadel immediately
pivoted away from Philadelphia. In a Board meeting soon after Citadel received approval for the
charter expansion in 2009, Citadel’s President and CEO at the time noted that the proposal to the
NCUA was not a “promise” to open branches in particular areas.

34. Citadel’s failure to take these measures to provide credit was intended to deny,
and had the effect of denying, equal access to home loans for those residing in, or seeking credit
for properties located in, majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods in its market area.

Citadel Failed to Maintain Adequate Policies and Practices to Monitor Fair Lending
Compliance.

35.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel lacked adequate policies and practices
to monitor fair lending compliance and to ensure that it was providing equal access to credit to
majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods.

36.  Although Citadel has had a written fair lending policy since at least 2012, it has
not taken adequate measures to implement its policy or monitor compliance with federal fair
lending laws. A 2020 NCUA fair lending exam found that Citadel did not provide fair lending
training to officials, including its board of directors and supervisory committee, and that it had
never conducted a “comprehensive fair lending risk assessment,” which are standard practices in
the mortgage lending industry.

37.  When, at the behest of the NCUA, Citadel finally retained a third-party to conduct

an audit of its fair lending program, the auditor found that Citadel lacked adequate internal
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procedures and personnel to monitor compliance with fair lending laws and recommended that
Citadel establish “a fair lending committee or other governing body dedicated to fair lending
issues.” But Citadel rejected this recommendation and still had not conducted a single redlining
risk assessment as of November 2022.

38.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel knew its fair lending policies and
practices were deficient, but even after these deficiencies were identified by its regulator and by a
third party, it did not take steps to address them.

Citadel Failed to Ensure Its Outreach, Marketing, or Advertising Reached Majority-Black
and Hispanic Neighborhoods to Generate Mortgage Loan Applications.

39. During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel failed to ensure its outreach, marketing,
and advertising for its mortgage lending services reached majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods, thereby failing to serve the home loan needs of the residents in these areas.

40.  In the majority-White neighborhoods within the market area, Citadel’s mortgage-
lending services were available to prospective applicants who walked into its physical branches.
Because there was only one Citadel branch in a majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhood in
Chester County, and none in Philadelphia County where 76 percent of the majority-Black and
Hispanic census tracts within Citadel’s market area are located, these services were not readily
available to the vast majority of residents of those neighborhoods.

41. Citadel took no steps to train or incentivize its mortgage loan originators to
compensate for its lack of branches and serve the residents of majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods. Citadel assigned each mortgage loan originator to take applications from
borrowers around particular branches but assigned no mortgage loan originators to take
applications from borrowers in Philadelphia County despite Philadelphia County accounting for

34 percent of Citadel’s overall market area.
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42.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel’s marketing and outreach strategy was
focused primarily on “brand recognition” and failed to include any efforts to market and advertise
its mortgage lending services to majority-Black or Hispanic areas.

43. Citadel did not monitor where it distributed its marketing or outreach materials to
ensure that such distribution occurred in all neighborhoods throughout its market area.

44, Citadel occasionally used direct mail campaigns to attract new members. When it
conducted these campaigns, Citadel sent mail to residents located near existing Citadel branches.
Because all but one branch were located in majority-White areas, these direct mail campaigns were
unlikely to reach residents of majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods.

45. Citadel used direct mail and e-mail campaigns to market mortgage loan services to
existing members. For example, in 2020, Citadel had a policy of using credit score minimums to
help determine which existing members would receive direct mail. These minimums were higher
than the underwriting requirements for home loans.

46. Citadel took no meaningful steps to generate mortgage loan applications from
majority-Black and Hispanic areas within its market area during the Relevant Time Period.

47. Citadel did not conduct any advertising or marketing in Spanish or otherwise
attempt to reach Hispanic areas within its market area, even though 9 percent of the population
within Citadel’s market area identifies as Hispanic and there are 30 census tracts within Citadel’s
market area in which over 50 percent of the residents are Hispanic. Citadel did not translate direct
mailings or other materials into Spanish. Citadel’s own fair lending policy prohibits “using only
English in an area where the majority of the members or potential members are non-English
speaking.” However, Citadel made no effort to determine whether areas within its market area

were majority non-English speaking.

10



Case 2:24-cv-05426 Document 1 Filed 10/10/24 Page 11 of 22

48. Similarly, during the Relevant Time Period, Citadel employed no mortgage loan
originators, and only one mortgage loan advisor, who spoke Spanish. As a result, the vast majority
of Citadel’s employees responsible for assisting customers with residential real estate loans were
unable to provide mortgage lending services to Spanish-speaking applicants and prospective
applicants.

49.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel conducted home buyers seminars to
promote Citadel’s First Time Home Buyers program. The first seminar was conducted at Citadel’s
headquarters in a majority-White area in Chester County. In subsequent years, Citadel held these
seminars at branches and a local library in majority-White census tracts. Citadel held no seminars
in majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods, which reduced the likelihood that a resident of
such a neighborhood would learn about or be able to attend one. Because participants received
financial incentives for attending a seminar in the form of reduced closing costs upon taking out a
Citadel residential mortgage, Citadel effectively denied residents of majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods this cost-saving opportunity.

50. Citadel’s failure to make any meaningful efforts to ensure its outreach, advertising,
and marketing reached majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods was intended to deny, and had
the effect of denying, equal access to home loans for those residing in, or seeking credit for
properties located in, majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods within its market area.

Citadel Received Disproportionately Low Numbers of Home Loan Applications from
Majority-Black and Hispanic Neighborhoods.

51. Citadel’s lending practices demonstrate a pattern of disproportionately failing to
serve majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods within its market area, particularly when

compared with its “peer lenders.” “Peer lenders” are similarly-situated financial institutions that

11
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received between 50 percent and 200 percent of Citadel’s annual volume of home mortgage loan
applications.

52. Citadel’s policies and practices alleged herein—including the concentration of its
branches, marketing, and outreach in majority-White neighborhoods—discriminated against and
discouraged applicants and prospective applicants in majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods
within the market area from applying for and obtaining home loans and other mortgage-related
services.

53. Citadel’s own data on loan applications and originations that it is required to report
to regulators under HMDA confirm that Citadel avoided serving majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods in its market area. See Exhibit C.

54.  During the Relevant Time Period, Citadel significantly underperformed its peer
lenders in generating home mortgage applications from majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods within its market area.

55. The disparity between the rate of applications generated by Citadel and the rate
generated by its peer lenders from majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods is both statistically
significant—meaning unlikely to be caused by chance—and sizable in every year from 2017
through 2021.

56. Specifically, of the 16,324 HMDA-reportable mortgage applications Citadel
generated from 2017 through 2021 within its market area, only 5 percent came from residents of
majority-Black and Hispanic areas. By contrast, during the same time period, Citadel’s peers
generated, on average, 13 percent of their HMDA applications from these same majority-Black
and Hispanic neighborhoods. These disparities are statistically significant across the five-year

period and in every year during the Relevant Time Period.

12
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57.  In other words, from at least 2017 through 2021, Citadel’s peer lenders generated
applications from majority-Black and Hispanic areas at nearly three times the rate of Citadel.

58. The statistically significant disparities between applications Citadel generated from
majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods and those that its peers generated show that there
were significant numbers of residents in majority-Black and Hispanic areas in the market area who
were seeking home loans. Citadel had no legitimate, non-discriminatory reason to draw so few
applications from these areas.

59. The data show a statistically significant failure by Citadel, relative to its peer
lenders, to draw applications for home loans and provide residential mortgage services to residents
in majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods on a non-discriminatory basis in every year during
the Relevant Time Period.

Citadel Made Disproportionately Low Numbers of Home Loans to Applicants in Majority-
Black and Hispanic Neighborhoods.

60. Citadel’s lending practices discouraged applicants and prospective applicants in
majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods from seeking home loans. As a result, Citadel made
a smaller percentage of HMDA-reportable residential mortgage loans in these neighborhoods
compared to its peers during the Relevant Time Period.

61. The disparity between the rate of home loans that Citadel made and the rate made
by its peer lenders in majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods is both statistically significant
and sizable in every year during the Relevant Time Period.

62. Specifically, of the 9,473 HMDA-reportable residential mortgage loans Citadel
made from 2017 through 2021 in its market area, only 3 percent were to residents of majority-
Black and Hispanic areas. By contrast, Citadel’s peers made 10 percent of their HMDA loans to

these same majority-Black and Hispanic neighborhoods during the Relevant Time Period.

13
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63. In other words, from 2017 through 2021, Citadel’s peer lenders made home loans
in majority-Black and Hispanic areas at more than three times the rate of Citadel.

64. These disparities are statistically significant across the five-year period and in every
year of the Relevant Time Period.

65. The level of lending by Citadel’s peers demonstrates that there were thousands of
qualified borrowers for home loans and sufficient mortgage loan demand in majority-Black and
Hispanic neighborhoods within its market area. Citadel had no legitimate, non-discriminatory
reason to originate so few loans from these areas.

66. The data show a statistically significant failure by Citadel to make home loans and
provide residential mortgage services to qualified applicants in majority-Black and Hispanic
neighborhoods on a non-discriminatory basis when compared with similarly situated lenders in
every year during the Relevant Time Period.

Citadel Failed to Address Its Known Redlining Risk.

67. As early as 2016 and continuing throughout the Relevant Time Period, Citadel was
aware that its operations posed a redlining risk in its market area.

68. A 2016 report from a third-party vendor that Citadel retained to analyze its market
performance informed Citadel that it trailed other lenders in mortgage applications from Black and
Hispanic residents in its market area. Specifically, the report indicated that only 9 percent of
Citadel’s mortgage applications were from “minority” applicants, compared to 20 percent of
applicants at other credit unions, 15 percent of applicants at banks, and 15 percent of applicants
for all other lenders.

69. This report also informed Citadel that it trailed other lenders in mortgage

applications from Black and Hispanic residents in each county within the market area. For

14
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example, in Delaware County, only 11 percent of Citadel’s mortgage applications were from
“minority” applicants, compared to 21 percent of applicants at other credit unions, 17 percent of
applicants at banks, and 17 percent of applicants at all other lenders.
70. Despite its known redlining risk, Citadel took no action in response to this report
indicating that it was underserving minority borrowers within its market area.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

COUNT1I
(VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR HOUSING ACT)

71. The United States incorporates all prior paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set
forth herein.

72. Citadel’s policies and practices constitute the unlawful redlining of majority-
Black and Hispanic communities within its market area on the basis of the racial, color, and
national origin composition of those communities. Citadel’s policies and practices were intended
to deny, and had the effect of denying, equal access to home loans to residents of majority-Black
and Hispanic communities and those seeking credit for properties located in those communities.
Citadel’s conduct was not justified by business necessity or legitimate business considerations.

73. Citadel’s actions as alleged herein constitute:

a. Discrimination on the basis of race, color, and national origin in making
available residential real estate-related transactions, or in the terms or
conditions of residential real estate-related transactions, in violation of the Fair
Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3605(a), and its implementing regulation, 24 C.F.R.

§§ 100.110(b), 100.120;

15
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b. The making unavailable or denial of dwellings to persons because of race,
color, and national origin, in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C.
§ 3604(a), and its implementing regulation, 24 C.F.R. § 100.50(b)(3); and

c. Discrimination on the basis of race, color, and national origin in the terms,
conditions, or privileges of the sale or rental of dwellings, or the provision of
services or facilities in connection with the sale or rental of dwellings, in
violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b), and its implementing
regulation, 24 C.F.R. §§ 100.50(b)(2), 100.65.

74. Citadel’s actions violated 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a) because its policies and practices
as alleged herein constitute:

a. A pattern or practice of resistance to the full enjoyment of rights secured by
the Fair Housing Act; and

b. A denial of rights granted by the Fair Housing Act to a group of persons that
raises an issue of general importance.

75. Citadel’s pattern or practice of discrimination was intentional and willful and was
implemented with reckless disregard for the rights of individuals based on their race, color, and
national origin.

76. Persons who have been victims of Citadel’s discriminatory policies and practices
are “aggrieved,” as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i), and have suffered damages as a result of
Citadel’s conduct in violation of the Fair Housing Act, as described above.

COUNT 11
(VIOLATIONS OF THE EQUAL CREDIT OPPORTUNITY ACT)

77. The United States incorporates all prior paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set

forth herein.

16
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78. Citadel’s acts, policies, and practices as alleged herein constitute unlawful
discrimination against applicants and prospective applicants, including by redlining majority-
Black and Hispanic communities within its market area and engaging in acts and practices directed
at prospective applicants that would discourage prospective applicants from applying for credit on
the basis of race, color, or national origin in violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and
Regulation B. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691-1691f; 12 C.F.R. § 1002.4(a)—(b).

79. Citadel’s policies and practices as alleged herein constitute a pattern or practice of
discrimination and discouragement and resistance to the full enjoyment of rights secured by the
Equal Credit Opportunity Act, in violation of the Act. 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(h).

80. Citadel’s pattern or practice of discrimination was intentional and willful and was
implemented with reckless disregard for the rights of individuals based on their race, color, and
national origin.

81.  Persons who have been victims of Citadel’s discriminatory policies and practices
are “aggrieved,” as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(a), and have suffered damages as a result of
Citadel’s conduct in violation of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, as described above.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully requests that judgment be entered in its favor

and against Defendant Citadel as follows:
(1) Declaring that the conduct of Defendant Citadel violates the Fair Housing Act;
(2) Declaring that the conduct of Defendant Citadel violates the Equal Credit Opportunity Act;
(3) Enjoining Defendant Citadel, its agents, employees, and successors, and all other persons

in active concert or participation with Defendant Citadel, from:

17
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A. Discriminating on account of race, color, or national origin in any aspect
of their lending business practices;

B. Discouraging applicants on account of race, color, or national origin;

C. Failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to
restore, as nearly as practicable, the victims of Defendant Citadel’s
unlawful practices to the position they would be in but for the
discriminatory conduct;

D. Failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to
prevent the recurrence of any discriminatory conduct in the future and to
eliminate, to the extent practicable, the effects of Defendant Citadel’s
unlawful practices, and providing policies and procedures to ensure all
segments of Defendant Citadel’s market area are served without regard to
prohibited characteristics;

(4) Awarding monetary damages against Defendant Citadel in accordance with 42 U.S.C.
§ 3614(d)(1)(B) and 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(h);
(5) Assessing a civil penalty against Defendant Citadel in an amount authorized by 42
U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(C), in order to vindicate the public interest; and
(6) Awarding the United States such further relief as the interests of justice may require.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

The United States demands trial by jury in this action on all issues so triable.

18
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Respectfully submitted this 10th day of October, 2024.

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

/s/ Jacqueline C. Romero
JACQUELINE C. ROMERO
United States Attorney

Eastern District of Pennsylvania

/s/ Lauren DeBruicker

GREGORY B. DAVID

Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Civil Division

CHARLENE KELLER FULLMER
Assistant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Affirmative Litigation
LAUREN DEBRUICKER

Assistant United States Attorney
Deputy Civil Chief for Civil Rights

/s/ Bryan C. Hughes

BRYAN C. HUGHES

Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney’s Office
Eastern District of Pennsylvania
615 Chestnut Street, Suite 1250
Philadelphia, PA 19106

Phone: (215) 861-8433
Bryan.Hughes@usdoj.gov
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MERRICK B. GARLAND
Attorney General

KRISTEN CLARKE
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

/s/ Adam M. Wesolowski
CARRIE PAGNUCCO

Chief

TAMICA H. DANIEL

Deputy Chief

ADAM M. WESOLOWSKI
TERRENCE K. MANGAN, JR.
Trial Attorneys

Housing & Civil Enforcement Section
Civil Rights Division

U.S. Department of Justice
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Exhibit A: Citadel’s Field of Membership & Market Area
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Exhibit B: Citadel’s Branch Network
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Exhibit C: Citadel’s Market Area Applications 2017-2021
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